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and Freedoms, and the Accessibility for Ontarians with 
Disabilities Act (AODA).
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Explore  
Northumberland County
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To bring together people, 
partnerships and possibilities 

for a strong and vibrant 
Northumberland County.

Our story

Our vision
To be a best practices leader 
of County government, and 
a collaborative partner with 
our member municipalities 
and community partners.

Our mission

The County has a set of values—shared beliefs—that guide us toward our ultimate goals and 
unite us along the way. In all of our actions and decision-making, we reference these values:

Our values

Honesty & 
Integrity

Accountability

Care &  
Support

Collaboration & 
Communication

Innovation & 
Excellence

Mutual Trust  
& Respect



Northumberland County is the upper tier level of municipal government that weaves together 
seven distinct, yet complementary municipalities:

We also value our long-standing relationship with Alderville First Nation. 
For more information, visit Alderville.ca.

Our location
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Township of  
Alnwick/Haldimand
AlnwickHaldimand.ca

Municipality of Brighton
Brighton.ca

Town of Cobourg
Cobourg.ca

Township of Cramahe
Cramahe.ca

Township of Hamilton
HamiltonTownship.ca

Municipality of Port Hope
PortHope.ca

Municipality of Trent Hills
TrentHills.ca

Alderville.ca

https://www.ahtwp.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.brighton.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.cobourg.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.cramahe.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.hamiltontownship.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.porthope.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.trenthills.ca/en/index.aspx


Located on the traditional territory of the Mississauga Anishinaabeg,  
Northumberland County is a thriving,  south-eastern Ontario community. 

Our community

Local employment of

48,800
Residents in Northumberland 

over age 15, as reported by 
Statistics Canada (2021)

Population in 2021

89,365
As reported by Statistics 

Canada (2021)
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510
New housing starts in 2022

$348.6M
Residential and non-residential 

combined estimated construction 
value in 2022

A growing community



Boating access from  
Lake Ontario, Rice Lake &  
Trent-Severn Waterways

Getting here
Easily accessible  
from Highway 401  
(exits 45 to 509)

1 day drive from most 
large Northeastern cities 
in the United States

1.5 hour drive from 
Toronto and Kingston
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Multi-residential

0.00943161
Our 2022 tax rates (County only) *Municipal and education in addition

Commercial

0.00785968
Industrial

0.01100355

Residential

0.00523979



Our lifestyle
A beautiful place to live and relax
A range of living experiences from historic towns to scenic rural areas.  
The rolling hills feature historic inns, B&Bs and destination spas.

Outdoor adventures
37 trails, 15 conservation areas, two forests, two provincial parks, one 
nature reserve, and access to the Trent-Severn Waterway and Lake Ontario. 
World-class cycling routes and some of the best diverse places to fish in 
Southern Ontario.

Vibrant arts and culture
Historic main streets, exceptional architecture, festivals, music and art 
galleries, and unique performance venues.

Farm fresh destinations
Specialty outlets, craft breweries, the Butter Tart Tour, and farm  
fresh destinations.

10
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Our attractions
Beaches, barns and the Big Apple
Wicklow and Presqu’ile beaches, Presqu’ile Point Lighthouse, historic 
Proctor House and Barn Theatre, the Big Apple and the Apple Route.

Cobourg and Rice Lake 
Roseneath carousel, Gores Landing wharf, and Cobourg waterfront and 
historic downtown.

Picturesque Port Hope 
Historic lakeshore, early churches and a unique downtown, pictured in 
several film and TV productions in recent years.

Rolling hills, adventures and arts
Local shops brimming with one-of-a-kind treasures and scenic historic 
and natural sites.

Trent Hills treats and charm
Chocolate and cheese factories, delicious bakeries, local craft beer and 
riverside towns.

12
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2022-2026 
County Council

Lucas Cleveland
Mayor of the Town of Cobourg

Scott Jibb
Mayor of the Township of Hamilton

Olena Hankivsky
Mayor of the Municipality of Port Hope
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Mayor of the Town of Cobourg 

Mayor of the Township of Hamilton 



Mandy Martin
2023 County Warden and Mayor  
of the Township of Cramahe

John Logel
Mayor of the Township of Alnwick/Haldimand

Brian Ostrander
2023 County Deputy Warden and  

Mayor of the Municipality of Brighton

Bob Crate
Mayor of the Municipality  
of Trent Hills

15
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A message from the County Warden
The 2022 Annual Report offers an in-depth 
overview of residents’ tax dollars at work. 
Sound financial planning is generating 
economic renewal, sustainable growth and 
community well-being.
The financial statements included in this 
report point to the County’s financial stability. 
Through good governance and prudent 
financial management, County Council 
continues to strive to balance affordability for 
residents and the delivery of the high-quality 
programs and essential services on which 
residents rely. This balance has been guided 
by our vision of bringing together people, 
partnerships and possibilities for a strong and 
vibrant Northumberland.  
2022 saw the lingering effects of the COVID 
pandemic and continued inflationary 
pressures. The County’s focus nevertheless 
remained on both the ongoing recovery 
process and capitalizing on new innovations 
and growth to position our community for a 
strong and vibrant future. From expansion 
of the Community Paramedicine program, 
to new opportunities for families to connect 
via EarlyON programming; from investments 
in the Food 4 All warehouse to enhance local 
food security, to launch of the Commuter 
Connect pilot shuttle bus service connecting 
riders to GO Transit; from advancing plans for 

broadband infrastructure, to road and bridge 
construction—the County is delivering 
innovative, quality services and programs 
that are impacting people’s day-to-day lives.  
Looking ahead to 2023, the County will embark 
on developing and implementing a new 
Community Strategic Plan. This plan will be a 
guiding framework as the County navigates a 
period of significant transformational change. 
Through public engagement and stakeholder 
dialogue, we will identify shared priorities. 
These priorities will inform decision-making 
that will be reflected in our annual budget 
and long-term financial plans. We know that 
the intersection of affordable housing with 
broadband connectivity, workforce retention 
and attraction and transportation initiatives 
will be key to the future of our economy and 
enhancing the quality of life for all residents. 
In charting a course for the next four years 
and beyond, this plan will help us to foster a 
Northumberland that continues to be a great 
place to live, work and visit.
As I reflect upon the past year, I am 
immensely proud of our organization’s—and 
our community’s—ability to adapt to ever-
changing circumstances, emerging stronger 
than ever before. Together, we have laid a 
solid foundation for a resilient, compassionate 
and inclusive county. 
As we embark on this new term of County 
Council, we are well-positioned to advance 
key community priorities based on a renewed 
strategic plan. These few achievements I have 
touched on represent a fraction of the impressive 
progress outlined in the report, showcasing the 
County’s unwavering commitment to building a 
strong and vibrant Northumberland County.

Mandy Martin
Northumberland County Warden
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What We Do
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A message from 
CAO Jennifer Moore
I am pleased to present the 2022 Annual Report, 
highlighting our progress in advancing our 
strategic plan priorities. We started the year 
with cautious optimism and achieved strong 
momentum in navigating the post-COVID 
landscape and recovery efforts. 
Enhancing community well-being remained a 
top priority in 2022 with continued investments 
in quality of life for residents.
Our focus on affordable housing yielded 
tangible results, with construction underway 
for the 40-unit Elgin Park Redevelopment 
in Cobourg, pre-construction work planned 
for the 62-unit Ontario Street development 
in Cobourg, and renovation of a 5-unit 
supportive housing complex completed in 
Campbellford. As well, increased investments 
in the homelessness system enabled increased 
shelter capacity and winter relief measures for 
the most vulnerable. In 2023, we will implement 
recommendations arising from a review of 
the emergency shelter system to strengthen 
support and life-stabilization programs.
Northumberland Paramedics responded to 
over 25,000 9-1-1 calls in 2022, supporting 
people in their hour of greatest need. Provincial 
funding also enabled the expansion of the 
Community Paramedicine program, making 
this service available to more residents and 
positively impacting hospital discharge 
planning, preventative care, and patient and 
caregiver experiences. In 2023, we will continue 
to foster a resilient and inclusive community 
where individuals and families thrive.
Careful infrastructure planning remains a 
priority to support a growing population 
and ensure the longevity of existing assets. 

The County’s investments in roads and 
transportation networks, including the Loomis 
Bridge in Brighton and Dartford Bridge in 
Trent Hills, along with the introduction of the 
Commuter Connect pilot shuttle bus service, 
reflect our commitment to keeping our 
community on the move.
Moving into 2023, Northumberland County is 
committed to building on this momentum. We 
will work closely with our municipal partners 
to strengthen processes and deliver more 
efficient services. Through collaboration and 
innovation, we’ll tackle current and emerging 
challenges and opportunities to create an 
inclusive and prosperous future.
I encourage you to review the report for a 
comprehensive overview of our progress 
and our plans to continue driving value for 
residents. Together, we will continue shaping 
Northumberland County’s success story.

Jennifer Moore
Northumberland County  
Chief Administrative Officer
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Kate Campbell
Communications Director

Matthew Nitsch 
Acting Finance Director/

Treasurer

Susan Brown
Northumberland Paramedics Chief

Lisa Horne
Community & Social  

Services Director

Dan Borowec
Economic Development, Planning  

& Strategic Initiatives Director

Lisa Ainsworth
Corporate Services Director

Darrell Mast
Municipal Solicitor

Our leadership team

Kamalesan 
Muthulingam

 Information Technology Director

Denise Marshall
Public Works Director

Glenn Dees
Special Projects Director

Communications Director Community & Social Services 
Director 

Corporate Services Director 

Economic Development, Planning & Strategic Initiatives 
Director

Acting Finance Director/Treasurer.

Information Technology Director 
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Long story short: A glimpse at what we do

39,862 Curbside waste stops 
per week.

More than 25,000 Paramedic calls 
per year

344 Community housing units owned and operated by NCHC.

78 Small food businesses supported at OAFVC.

Maintain 498 kilometers of County roads.

98.4% Occupancy 
in our long-term 
care home.

4,410 Clients supported by the Economic 
Development, Planning 
and Strategic Planning 
and Strategic Initiatives 
team.

28 County buildings

5,424 Acres of County 
Forest.

151 Beds in our long-term 
care home.

6 Paramedic 
bases.

More than 530 Linear meters 
of archival materials



Our teams
Communications

Communications and  
media relations

• Provides communications planning, 
project management and media relations

• Ensures a coordinated, best-practice 
approach to informing residents and 
stakeholders about County programs, 
services and priorities, and fostering 
public engagement with local government

Creative services and  
corporate identity

• Produces layout and design, photography 
and videography

• Coordinates consistent messaging, 
visuals, style guides, and brand identity

Grant writing
• Identifies grant opportunities and 

develops proposals to secure funding 
from other levels of government and 
external sources for municipal initiatives

21
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Community & Social Services
Community and affordable 
housing programs

• Administers Community Housing and 
affordable housing programs, supporting 
implementation of our Ten-Year Housing 
and Homelessness Plan

• Works to implement the strategic vision 
of the Northumberland County Housing 
Corporation (NCHC) Board of Directors

Community outreach &  
health and wellness

• Connects residents in need with the 
appropriate County, community and 
government services and supports

• Manages initiatives to reduce 
homelessness and the risk  
of homelessness

• Leads development and implementation  
of the Community Safety and Well-Being 
Plan for Northumberland

Family and children  
support programs

• Oversees system planning for licensed 
child care services and EarlyON Child and 
Family Centre programming in the County

Food security programs
• Operates Food 4 All, a centralized  

food distribution warehouse

Ontario Works services
• Coordinates social assistance  

services, including financial  
and stability supports

Community and affordable housing 
programs 

Food security programs
Operates Food 4 All, a centralized food distribution 
warehouse.

Ontario Works services 
Coordinates social assistance services, including 
financial and stability supports
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Corporate Services
Accessibility

• Works with the Northumberland Accessibility Advisory Committee and  
Inter-Municipal Accessibility Committee to develop policies, practice and 
procedures related to accessible and inclusive service delivery

County Forest
• Manages approximately 5,500 acres of mainly forested land  

including 118 km of trails and 4 km of accessible trails 

Cultural heritage
• Operates the Northumberland County Archives and Museum

Health, safety and emergency planning
• Ensures a safe and healthy working environment by adhering to  

occupational health and safety legislation and regulations
• Conducts hazard identification, emergency planning training and  

control measures

Human resources
• Ensures regulatory compliance with labour laws
• Ensures legal compliance with Payroll related legislation
• Supports operating departments with recruitment, employee/labour 

relations, performance management, training & development and 
compensation and benefits

Legislative services
• Records and maintains official Council and Standing Committee  

records including; agendas, minutes, resolutions, and by-laws 
• Oversees a broad range of responsibilities related to County Council  

and legislative compliance



Economic Development,  
Planning & Strategic Initiatives

Business services
• Operates the Business & Entrepreneurship 

Centre of Northumberland (BECN)
• Business incubation services and supports 

for the agriculture and agri-food industry 
through the Ontario Agri-Food Venture 
Centre (OAFVC)

Economic development
• Fosters economic prosperity and 

innovation by providing leadership for 
manufacturing attraction and other 
economic development activities

• Provides Settlement Services  
programing and supports for  
New Canadians investment

Land use planning
• Provides land use planning and 

environmental inspection services

Tourism
• Markets Northumberland County as a  

travel destination

Finance and Treasury
Court services

• Processes Provincial Offences Act (POA) 
charges and administers court services

Financial services
• Develops budgets including operating 

and capital financial plans
• Records and reports all financial 

transactions, collection and investments
• Performs purchasing functions and 

implements financial policies and  
internal controls

• Conducts risk management

24



Information Technology
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Cybersecurity
• Administers a comprehensive program protecting 

technology assets and confidential information, 
while proactively managing cyber risks

Digital delivery and innovation
• Leverages cutting-edge strategies and monitors 

digital trends for service optimization and 
successful project execution

Information management and  
data intelligence

• Oversees information assets and shapes  
data strategies for comprehensive data  
intelligence solutions

IT client services
• Offers robust IT services to internal departments 

and external partners, focusing on client 
relationships and premier support

IT infrastructure operations
• Supervises and maintains the County’s IT 

infrastructure for reliable, secure, and smooth  
IT services

Legal Services
Legal Advice

• Provide legal advice and opinions to County 
Departments and Council

• Advise on and manage County legal agreements
• Monitor legislative changes to ensure statutory 

and regulatory compliance

Provincial Offences
• Prosecution of Provincial Offences and Appeals 

in the Ontario Court of Justice

Legal Representation
• Ensure representation before Courts and Tribunals
• Retain and instruct external legal counsel



Long-Term Care: Golden Plough Lodge
Accommodation

• Offers a home for adults whose needs can no longer be met 
within the community

• Provides lodging, food services and environmental services  
for residents

Health
• Provides clinical nursing care and therapeutic, social work, 

pharmaceutical, and physician services
• Provides assistance with activities of daily living

Life enrichment
• Supports individuals to maintain a life with purpose, dignity, 

choice and respect
• Offers recreational, active, social and spiritual programming
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Northumberland Paramedics
Community paramedicine

• Provides proactive health care services for our community, 
bridging identified system gaps, challenges and access to 
community care.

• Diverting lower acuity patients who use 9-1-1 services for a 
multitude of reasons to an alternative model of care.

Pre-hospital healthcare
• Provides emergency health care to County residents and 

visitors, and transports those in need of further care to 
appropriate medical facilities.

Training and public education
• Ensures that all Paramedics maintain current health care 

skills to ensure quality of care and continuous improvement.
• Delivers community programs to educate the public on 

Northumberland Paramedics and the appropriate use of 
Emergency Medical Services and 911.
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Public Works
Facilities

• Leads the oversight of all County-owned facilities including 
buildings, infrastructure and grounds

• Maintains Northumberland County Housing Corporation facilities

GIS and asset management
• Manages the County GIS database and provides GIS services to 

member municipalities
• Manages the County’s Asset Management software, and develops 

and updates the County’s Asset Management Policy and Plan

Major projects
• Manages and oversees large-scale capital construction projects 

from planning stages through to construction

Infrastructure
• Manages and oversees capital planning and construction for all 

transportation assets including roads, structures, storm sewers, 
traffic signals, etc.

• Provides engineering reviews and approvals for planning and 
development applications

• Completes reviews and provides approval for all Right-Of-Way 
(ROW) permits for utility companies, contractors, consultants, etc. 
working within the County ROW

Roads
• Maintains County roads, bridges, culverts, traffic signals, street 

lighting, trails and drainage systems
• Provides summer and winter maintenance, roadside safety 

maintenance, traffic control, surface treatment program for 
County and member municipal roads, and fleet management  
for all County departments

Waste management
• Responsible for the collection, processing and disposal of waste 

and recyclables (including organic waste, yard waste, household 
hazardous waste and electronic waste)

• Services include maintenance and operation of:
• One recycling plant (the Material Recovery Facility)
• Three Community Recycling Centres
• One operational landfill site
• Eight closed landfill sites

28



29



30

2022 Highlights
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Housing support

Economic prosperity 
and innovation

• Promote awareness of Northumberland
• Deliver on the fundamental building blocks
• Maximize our key assets
• Ensure Northumberland is open for business

Developments underway
Continued advancing two 
community housing projects in 
Cobourg, including construction 
of the Elgin Park Redevelopment 
and pre-construction activities 
for the new collaborative Ontario 
Street development, in partnership 
with Ontario Aboriginal Housing 
Services, Northumberland County 
Housing Corporation and Habitat 
for Humanity Northumberland. 
These two developments will 
introduce an additional 84 
affordable rental units in the 
community, with a mixture of 
tenure and affordability types.

Launched Tourism 
Wellness Experience 
Development Program
Assisted with development of 
wellness tourism products to 
attract and retain visitors to 
Northumberland and support 
individual operators within this 
segment of the industry to grow 
and prosper.

OAFVC expansion and 
indoor farmer’s market
Designed an Ontario Agri-Food 
Venture Centre expansion and 
indoor farmer’s market.

Tourism & business support

Great Northumberland 
Road Trip Digital Guide
Launched an immersive, 
interactive and accessible 
visitor’s guide to showcase  
over 200 tourism experiences 
in Northumberland.

Quick highlights
• BECN supported 1,442 

small businesses with 
programs, coaching & grants

• Launched 27 new food 
businesses through the 
Ontario Agri-Food  
Venture Centre

• 12.5 M impressions on 
local tourism digital ads

• Helped launch a business 
recognized in the Top 10 
grocery products by Grocery 
Innovation Canada, after 
only 6 months

Supportive housing  
facility preparation
Acquired and renovated a  
five-bedroom unit as the future 
site of supportive housing 
services in Campbellford, 
to be delivered by Canadian 
Mental Health Association, with 
Northumberland County Housing 
Corporation as landlord.
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Sustainable growth
• Ensure growth pays for growth
• Ensure we maintain our infrastructure
• Implement key Master Plans and advance key projects
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental stewardship
• Increase public access to high-speed digital services

Quick highlights
• Released a revised  

20-year Asset 
Management Plan  
for core assets

• 20,000 trees 
distributed through 
Emerald Ash Borer Tree 
Replacement Program

• Road work:  
13 km paved 
10 km microsurfaced  
16 km surface treated

Future of Northumberland

Northumberland Next
Advanced our Official Plan 
update, including conducting 
community consultations 
regarding growth management 
and agricultural mapping.

Road reconstructions
Reconstructed County Road 18  
at Telephone Road and Danforth 
Road, and initiated a study 
and detailed design for the 
reconstruction of County Road 64  
in partnership with the 
Municipality of Brighton.

Intersection safety 
improvements
Launched a community 
consultation and feasibility study 
for safety improvements to the 
intersection of County Roads 2, 10 
and 74 in the hamlet of Welcome  
in Port Hope.

Roads & bridges
New Campbellford bridge
Continued detailed design for 
the new Trent River Crossing and 
Arterial Road Network.

Bridge work
Completed the Dartford Bridge 
rehabilitation project and the 
replacement of Loomis Bridge.

New GPL & NCAM
Advanced construction of the new 
Golden Plough Lodge long-term 
care home and Northumberland 
County Archives and Museum 
facility, opening in 2024.

Infrastructure upgrades

High-speed internet
Acquired $45M in funding from 
the federal and provincial 
governments to deliver, with 
partners, high-speed internet 
across Northumberland by 2025.

Digital literacy support
Offered free information sessions 
to the community to promote 
internet safety best practices.



Accessibility for all
Provided internal training, 
support and expertise to help 
staff improve the accessibility 
of their documents, programs, 
facilities, technology and more.
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Thriving and inclusive 
communities

Quick highlights
• Inspected 525 km of 

County Forest trails
• Delivered 1.3 M lbs of 

food and essential items  
to local food programs

• 6,300 family visits to 
EarlyON Northumberland

• Golden Plough Lodge 
CARF accreditation

• Finalized our Multi-Year 
Accessibility Plan 
and completed ramp and 
sidewalk upgrades

• Strengthen services to people
• Promote diversity and inclusion
• Enhance transit services
• Demonstrate leadership in healthcare transition
• Demonstrate leadership in public safety

Caring for the community

Community Paramedicine
Provided preventative in-home 
care for 807 individuals who 
were frail, elderly or had mobility 
restrictions, and a further 131 
patients through Remote Patient 
Monitoring (RPM), reducing stress 
on high-demand services such 
as hospitals, emergency rooms, 
clinics and emergency services.

Indigenous advisory circle
Worked with e wiindmaagzijig to 
develop inaugural exhibitions for 
NCAM’s future museum space.

Community services

Storytelling & collaboration

Commuter Connect
Launched a pilot shuttle service 
to connect the communities of 
Northumberland with each other 
and GO service in Oshawa.

Winter warming room
Collaborated with St. Peter’s 
Anglican Church and Transition 
House Shelter in Cobourg to 
provide an overnight warming 
room where residents in need 
could take shelter from the cold 
during the winter.

Community Homelessness 
System Review
Conducted a system review 
to guide planning and service 
delivery options, and implement 
the Homeless Individual and 
Families Information System 
for coordinated access of real-
time data shared between 
community agencies.

Child care service planning
Engaged the community to help 
identify gaps in service, existing 
pressures, and improvements to 
service delivery.
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Internal legal services
Introduced new Legal Services 
department to internally manage 
legal matters for the County, 
including a Municipal Solicitor and 
a team of paralegal prosecutors.

Leadership in change

Award-winning design
Awarded a MarCom Gold Award 
for the design of Northumberland 
County’s 2021 Annual Report.

• Engage in continuous improvement
• Ensure solid finances and fiscal management
• Improve digital service delivery
• Develop a comprehensive HR strategy
• Intensify intergovernmental relations
• Reinforce collaboration
• Strengthen public engagement

Quick highlights
• $57M in funding 

secured from other  
levels of government  
and external sources

• Developed comprehensive 
cybersecurity 
program for the County

• Hybrid meeting 
technology for Council  
and Standing Committees

• Accounts Payable 
Modernization 
Review completed

Strategic collaborative 
health and well-being
Partnered with patients, 
caregivers and health and 
community service providers 
via the Ontario Health Team 
of Northumberland to identify 
health and well-being priorities 
for Northumberland and establish 
a strategic plan for action.

Fiscal management
Budget process 
improvements
Developed a framework and 
policies to facilitate multi-year 
budgeting and debt-management, 
and evaluated opportunities for 
software to improve workflow 
and deliver enhanced financial 
forecasting and modelling.

Continuous improvement

Recruitment and training
People Strategy
Implemented a People Strategy to 
guide professional development, 
training, succession planning and 
recruitment for effective long-
term operations.

Early Years recruitment 
Developed and implemented a 
workforce strategy and marketing 
campaign to help retain and 
recruit Early Years professionals.

Advocacy for rail service
Delivered case study to VIA Rail 
Canada featuring feedback from 
over 2,800 potential riders 
from eastern Ontario calling for 
restoration of commuter Train 651.
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2023 Priorities



Economic prosperity & innovation
Affordable and innovative housing opportunities

• Work toward the creation of an Affordable Housing Leadership Table that supports the 
creation of affordable housing units and increasing affordability in our community.

• Complete the Social Housing Master Plan and the Northumberland County Housing 
Corporation (NCHC) Strategic Asset Management Plan to support the long-term 
viability of community housing in Northumberland.

• Complete Phase 1 of the Elgin Park Affordable Housing Redevelopment in Cobourg 
and begin construction of Phase 2. Completion of Phase 2 is scheduled for 2025.

• Initiate the design for the Ontario Street affordable housing development in Cobourg. 
Construction for this joint project between NCHC, Habitat for Humanity Northumberland 
and Ontario Aboriginal Housing Services is anticipated to begin in 2024.

• Complete renovations on a house in Campbellford to be used for supportive housing.
• Creation of a Workforce Housing Corporation to advance housing development that 

aligns with local labour force needs.

Business and tourism support
• Continue to support local entrepreneurs and small businesses through programs 

and services delivered by the Business and Entrepreneurship Centre Northumberland 
(BECN), including the introduction of virtual business education resources available 
on demand.

• Grow and market wellness tourism experiences and start to position Northumberland 
as Ontario’s wellness tourism destination.

36



Sustainable growth
Infrastructure modernization

• Advance final stages of construction for the new Golden Plough Lodge & 
Northumberland County Archives and Museum facility.

• Advance partnership with Municipality of Brighton to continue planning and design 
of a shared emergency services base for Northumberland Paramedics and Brighton 
Fire Services.

• Advance the detailed design for the new Trent River Crossing in Campbellford and 
conduct the second round of community consultation on the design.

• Complete construction of the Eagleson Landfill Leachate Collection System Alterations.

Maintaining our roads and bridges 
• Complete the detailed design for the Welcome Intersection improvements in  

Port Hope and the County Road 64 reconstruction project, in partnership with the 
Municipality of Brighton.

• Complete safety improvements at the Prince Edward Street railway crossing in Brighton.
• Replace Hickerson Culvert in Baltimore and Thompson Bridge in Trent Hills, 

rehabilitate Braithwaite Bridge in Alnwick/Haldimand, and replace expansion joints 
on the existing Campbellford Bridge.

• Deliver the 2023 Capital Construction Program, including paving and microsurfacing 
for approximately 19.8 km of County roads and surface treatment for approximately 
120 km of municipal and County roads.’

Planning for sustainable growth 
• Finalize the County Official Plan update, including finalizing the agricultural 

assessment plan and initiating development of a water resources system plan.
• Continue development of the County Asset Management Plan.
• Complete a GHG Emission Reduction Plan.
• Initiate a residual waste disposal study to determine the County’s long-term solution 

for managing non-divertible waste, through extensive consultation with the public.
• Implement a strategy for divestiture of the Material Recovery Facility, to align with 

the transition of the County’s residential recycling program to Producers in 2024.
• Launch a mattress & box spring diversion program at our Community Recycling Centres.
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Thriving & inclusive communities
Caring for our community

• Continue to expand Northumberland Paramedics’ alternative models of care, 
appropriate alternative destinations, and treat and release programs.

• Continue working with local hospitals to develop and obtain funding for strategies 
and programs to reduce paramedic offload delays—including programs such as the  
‘Fit to Sit’ program and the dedicated offload nursing program.

• Continue expanding the Community Paramedic scope of practice and enhance staff 
skill development in areas such as clinical and psycho-social assessments, chronic 
disease management, referral to community-based agencies and public education.

• Continue collaborating with the Northumberland Community Emergency Management 
Coordinators on a County-wide joint multi-agency and all-inclusive member municipal 
emergency exercise.

Enhanced services for residents 
• Conduct a second Child Care Survey to gather updated insights on key areas of focus for 

the delivery of current and future early years programming across Northumberland.
• Implement a streamlined digital meal ordering system at the Golden Plough Lodge.
• Introduce a new brand for the Northumberland County Archives and Museum to better 

reflect its future as a cultural destination, in advance of the opening of the new facility 
in 2024.

• Process remaining COVID-related backlog for Part 1 offences with the Provincial 
Offences court.

Homelessness support
• Continue working with community partners to deliver overnight winter warming room 

services, providing a safe space for people experiencing homelessness to come in 
out of the cold.

• Complete a homelessness system review to develop recommendations for advancing 
a community-wide response model of infrastructure and services to support those 
experiencing—or at risk of experiencing—homelessness.
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Leadership in change
Continuous improvement

• Implement a public dashboard for tracking corporate performance metrics, improving 
access to key insights about the County’s progress towards fulfillment of core priorities.

• Undertake a comprehensive review of County By-laws and train staff on drafting by-laws.

Effective financial planning
• Develop implementation plan for new budgeting software to streamline processes and 

enhance reporting, and provide for a multi-year budget aligned with the newly adopted 
Multi-Year Budget Policy upon Council consent.

• Develop a financing strategy to expand construction program funding, aligned with our 
asset management plan for core assets.

• Complete a property assessment roll review to ensure fair and equitable taxation.

Looking ahead to the future
• Conduct community consultations to inform the development of a community strategic 

plan, which will set a shared vision for Northumberland and indicate clear priorities and 
actions for the next four years to set the County on a path to achieving this vision.

• Update the Golden Plough Lodge Strategic Plan, in alignment with corporate priorities.
• Develop and implement a Communications Master Plan to set the direction for strategic 

communications and community engagement practices over a 10-year horizon.
• Develop an employer branding strategy designed to attract and retain talent.
• Establish a Legal Services Policy for the Corporation.

Modern and secure infrastructure
• Complete a security audit for many County-owned sites across Northumberland.
• Reinforce and augment cyber security controls to fortify defenses against cyber threats.
• Streamline IT strategy and resources to boost ongoing digital transformation efforts, and 

define, develop, and launch new portfolios to ensure alignment with future strategy.

Shared services and partnerships
• Introduce shared procurement services for interested member municipalities.
• Integrate new municipal partners into the County’s IT services offering, and initiate the 

transition to a Shared IT Services Model for enhanced delivery of Managed IT Services 
to member municipalities and partners.
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A message from  
the Treasurer
I am very pleased to present the tenth Annual 
Report for Northumberland County.  This report 
summarizes our financial performance and 
shares the Audited Financial Statements for 
the organization, for the fiscal year ending 
December 31, 2022.
For 2022, Northumberland County Council 
approved a budget of $181.3M, including 
$65.3M for capital investments, $109.1M for 
core services, and $6.9M for reserves towards 
the future financing of identified strategic 
initiatives and infrastructure needs.  The 
outcome was a tax increase coming in at 3.1% 
after assessment growth comprised of 2.27% 
for base budget and 0.85% dedicated towards 
infrastructure investments.  
Construction of the Golden Plough Lodge & 
Northumberland County Archives and Museum 
(GPL & NCAM) continued to represent the 
most significant proportion of the 2022 actual 
capital investment at $23.3M. Construction and 
maintenance of our road and bridge network 
represented our second most significant 
capital expenditure at $9.8M.
Northumberland’s Net Financial Assets 
decreased to $12.1M in 2022. This decrease of 
$11.8M is being driven by increased financial 
liabilities for the GPL & NCAM redevelopment 
project. It is important to note that, while our 
Net Financial Assets have decreased, our non-
financial assets have increased by $35.8M as 
a result of significant infrastructure spending. 
Northumberland’s accumulated surplus 
increased from $224.1M in 2021 to $248.6M  
in 2022.
We have continued to increase our reserves 
in anticipation of required future investment 
in large construction projects like the Trent 
River Crossing in Campbellford as well as 
community housing projects. The timing of 

cash flows for financing projects such as the 
GPL & NCAM redevelopment and the Elgin Park 
redevelopment has meant an increase in the 
County’s reserves from $83.2M to $95.2M. 
Reserves provide for future financial flexibility, 
contingencies, and dedicated funds within the 
County’s long-term financial plan for financing 
critical infrastructure projects. 
Key indicators of our financial performance point 
to the County’s fiscal health, with a continued 
positive trend of increased Accumulated Surplus 
resulting in stable reserves, careful and strategic 
management of debt, expansion of capital 
assets and enhanced financial capacity to 
address long-term priorities.
I would like to express my sincere thanks to the 
County Finance team for their expertise and 
professionalism, and to our internal partners 
for their careful management of public funds. 
The Northumberland County consolidated 
financial statements demonstrate our healthy 
fiscal position, which is a result of our shared 
commitment to delivering quality service and 
value for Northumberland ratepayers.

Matthew Nitsch
Northumberland County  
Acting Director of Finance/Treasurer
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Financial management
County business planning
The County goes through a rigorous budgeting and planning 
process each year. Each operating department develops an 
annual business plan that is aligned with the County’s Corporate 
Strategic Plan. This process looks at programs and services, 
budgets and key priorities for the year. In addition to the annual 
budget, the long term plan is reviewed and updated to create a 
rolling 10-year financial outlook.

Financial statement preparation
Northumberland County management is responsible for all 
information contained in the Annual Financial Report. These 
financial statements and accompanying notes have been 
prepared using reasonable limits of materiality and within 
the framework of the accounting principles and disclosure 
requirements of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants guidelines included in the Public Sector 
Accounting and Auditing Standards Manual.

Internal control management
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal and 
administrative controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are executed with proper authorization, that 
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and that the 
financial information produced is relevant, reliable and timely.

2
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External audit
The role of the external auditor, Baker Tilly KDN LLP, is to 
express an independent opinion on the fair presentation of the 
County’s financial position and operating results as contained 
in the Financial Statements, confirming that the statements 
are free from material misstatements. It is the responsibility 
of the auditor to advise management and the Finance & Audit 
Committee of any control or operational issues that may be 
identified during the execution of their audit procedures.

Financial reporting
To ensure accountability and transparency, the Finance Director 
and Treasurer presents quarterly updates to Council on the 
status of County finances relative to the current budget. County 
auditors, together with the Finance Director/Treasurer, present 
to Council the final annual Audited Financial Statement for the 
County, for Council approval, closing out the previous fiscal year.
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Expenses

Annual overview

Financial assets

$12.1 M

$23.7 M $17.4 M

$36.2 M

$17.3 M

* All comparative data references 2021 results.

$11.4 M

The County is in a positive net financial asset position of $12.1 million.

Financial results overview

Assets

Liabilities

2016 
$8.3 M

2017 
$14.4 M

2018 
$16.7 M

2019 
$15.7 M

2020 
$21.5 M

2021 
$23.9 M

2022 
$12.1 M

Reserves

Long-term debt & 
short-term advances

Cash & investments

Net book value of assets

Total revenue

The County saw a reduction of net financial assets in 2022, due to anticipated debt that 
was acquired for the GPL & NCAM Rebuild.

Expenses have increased by 11.4 million dollars.

Reserves have increased by 12.1 million dollars.

Long-term debt & short-term advances have increase 
by 23.7 million dollars.

Total revenue has increased by 17.3 million 
dollars.

Net book value of assets have increase by 36.2 million dollars.

Cash & investments have increase by 17.4 million dollars.
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*Percentages may not add up to 100 due to decimal point rounding.
Health services: Paramedics & Health Unit funding. Environmental services: waste management. 
Protection services: Provincial Offences, Court Security, Plumbing & Septic Inspections, & Emergency 
Planning. General government: Corporate Support departments & facilities, MPAC payment, & Council.

Salaries & Benefits $48.9
External Transfers $24.8

Materials $21.0
Contracted Services $16.1

Amortization $9.3
Interest Charges $0.3

Rents & Financial $0.3

Expenses by type (m)

Tax Levy $63.8
Provincial Government $48.6

User Charges $12.5
Federal Government $11.2

Investment Income $2.8
Rents $2.6

Other Municipalities $1.3
Provincial Offences $1.3 

Other $0.7
Development Charges $0.4

Revenues by type (m)

Social & Family Services $42.7
Health Services $19.7
Transportation $18.7

Environmental Services $13.2
Social Housing $12.8

General Government $5.3
Ec. Development/Tourism/Forest $4.5 

Protection Services $3.7

Expenses by service (m)

41%

21%

13%
17%

8%

0.2% 0.2%

16%

11%
16%

4%

35%

11%

4% 3%

33%

8%9%

2%2% 0.9% 0.9% 0.5% 0.3%

44%

Salaries and Benefits: $58.9 million dollars, 41% of total expenses.

External Transfers: $24.8 million dollars, 21% of total expenses.

Materials: $21 million dollars, 17% of total expenses

Contracted services: $16.1 million dollars, 13% of total expenses.

Amortization: $9.3 million dollars, 8% of total expenses.

Interest Charges: $0.3 million dollars, 0.2% of total expenses.

Rents and Financial: $ 0.3 million dollars, 0.2% of total expenses.

Social and family Services: $42.7 million dollars, 35% of total expenses.

Health Services: $19.7 million dollars, 16% of total expenses.

Transportation $18.7 million dollars, 16% of total expenses.

Environmental Services: $13.2 million dollars, 11% of total expenses.

Social Housing: %12.8 million dollars, 11% of total expenses.

General Government: $5.3 million dollars, 4% of total expenses.

Ec. Development/Tourism/Forest: $4.5 million dollars, 4% of total expenses.

Protection services: $3.7 Million dollars, 3% of total expenses.

Tax Levy $63.8 million dollars, 44% of 
revenue.

Provincial Government $48.6 million dollars, 33% revenue.

User charges: $12.5 million dollars, 9% of revenue.

Federal Government: $11.2 million dollars, 8% of revenue.

Investment Income: $2.8 million dollars, 2% of revenue.

Rents $2.6 million dollars, 2% 
of revenue.

Other municipalities: $1.3 million dollars, 0.9% of revenue.

Provincial offences: $1.3 million dollars, 0.9% of revenue.

Other $0.7 million dollars, 0.5% of 
revenue.

Development charges: $0.4 million dollars, 0.3% of revenue.

Health services: Paramedics & Health Unit funding. Environmental services: waste management. Protection services: 
Provincial Offences, Court Security, Plumbing & Septic Inspections, & Emergency Planning. General government: 
Corporate Support departments & facilities, MPAC payment, & Council. 
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Capital projects overview
Dollars spent on capital projects in 2022.

Fleets & Equipment

*Part of a multi-year 
investment of approx. $114.1  M

*Including $0.7 M towards fleet 
and equipment for the new 
Community Paramedicine for 

Long-Term Care Program

$9.8 M
Northumberland 
County Housing 

Corporation

$4 M
GPL & NCAM 

Redevelopment*
Roads and  

bridges projects

$29 M

$0.2 M
Roads fleet  

and equipment

Major Projects

$0.6 M
Waste fleet  

and equipment

$1.6 M
Paramedics fleet  
and equipment

$ 9.8 million dollars on roads 
and bridges projects

$29 million dollars on GPL and 
NCAM Redevelopment.

*Part of a multi-year investment of approx. 
$114.1 million dollars

$4 million dollars for NorthumberlandCounty 
Housing 
Corporation

$0.2 million dollars on roads fleet 
and equipment

$0.6 million dollars for waste and equipment $1.6 million dollars for Paramedics fleet 
and equipment
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Get Involved



Support your community

Volunteer with us

Whether it is distributing food donations from the Food 4 All 
warehouse to local programs, providing entertainment for the 
residents of the Golden Plough Lodge, or offering coaching to 
small business entrepreneurs, Northumberland residents make 
invaluable contributions to County programs and services that 
leave a lasting impression on our community.
Looking to get involved? Connect with us today to learn how you 
can join our volunteer team—now or in the future—and work 
with us to create possibilities for a thriving Northumberland!

Volunteer opportunities include positions in:
• Business & Entrepreneurship Centre Northumberland
• Food 4 All warehouse
• Golden Plough Lodge long term care home
• Northumberland County Archives & Museum
• Northumberland County Forest

For more information on how to apply, 
please call 905-372-3329.
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News and notices
Northumberland.ca/News
News, as well as information about community consultations 
and other public notices, are regularly posted in Northumberland 
newspapers. This information, along with photos, videos and other 
details, can also be found in the County’s online Newsroom.

Social media
Northumberland.ca/FollowUs
We’re social! Connect with Northumberland County via Facebook, 
Twitter, and YouTube.

County Council meetings
Northumberland.ca/Council
Our monthly Northumberland County Standing Committee and Council 
meetings are open to the public. Council generally meets on the third 
Wednesday of each month (subject to change).  Minutes, agendas and 
reports from Council and Standing Committee meetings are also available 
for review online.

Questions or comments for Council?
Northumberland.ca/MeetYourCouncil
County councillors welcome and appreciate your feedback. Share 
your comments by calling or mailing our headquarters office (contact 
information above), or connect with Council members through email by 
visiting our ‘Meet Your Council’ webpage.

Where to find us

Connect with us

Online
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Northumberland.ca

Call us
905-372-3329

Toll-Free
1-800-354-7050

Visit us
555 Courthouse Road, Cobourg ON

Our monthly Northumberland County Standing Committee and Council meetings are open 
to the public. Council generally meets on the third Wednesday of each month (subject 
to change). Minutes, agendas and reports from Council and Standing Committee 
meetings are also available for review online. 

https://www.northumberland.ca/en/index.aspx
https://www.northumberland.ca/Modules/News/en
https://www.northumberland.ca/en/county-government/social-media-centre.aspx
https://www.northumberland.ca/en/county-government/council.aspx
https://www.northumberland.ca/en/county-government/meet-your-council.aspx


Appendix A:  
2022 Financial Statements
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Corporation of the County of Northumberland 
For The Year Ended December 
31, 2022 Management Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the County of Northumberland 
are the responsibility of management and have been approved by Council.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards. Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgements. 
When alternative accounting methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the 
circumstances, in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects.

The County maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of high quality, consistent with reasonable 
cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable 
and accurate and the County's assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The County's Council is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is 
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving financial statements.

Council reviews and approves the County's financial statements for issuance to the members of Council, inhabitants and ratepayers 
of the Corporation of the County of Northumberland. Council meets periodically with management, as well as the 
external auditor, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting 
issues, to satisfy themselves that each party is properly discharging their responsibilities and to review the financial 
statements and the independent auditor's report.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Baker Tilly KDN LLP in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards on behalf of the County. Baker Tilly KDN LLP has full  and free access to Council. s

Warden Treasurer

June 21, 2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers
of the Corporation of the County of Northumberland

Baker Tilly KDN LLP
272 Charlotte St.
Peterborough, ON
Canada K9J 2V4

T: (705) 742-3418
F: (705) 742-9775

www.bakertilly.ca

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the County of
Northumberland and its subsidiary (the County), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus,
change in net financial assets/(net debt) and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the County as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its
consolidated operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the County in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
County's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the  County or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the County's financial reporting process.

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the County of Northumberland and its subsidiary 
(the County), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated 
statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets/(net debt) and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the County in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

ASSURANCE . TAX . ADVISORY
Baker Tily KON LLP is a member of Baker Tilly Canada Cooperative, which is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited. All members of Baker 
Tilly Canada Cooperative and Baker Tilly International Limited are separate and independent legal entities.

Peterborough Courtice Lindsay Cobourg



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the County's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the County's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the County to
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the consolidated financial information of the
entities or business activities within the County to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Peterborough, Ontario
June 28, 2023

Baker Tilly Representatives Signature



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At December 31, 2022

2022 2021
$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash 3,987,976 5,111,977
Investments (note 3) 114,200,557 95,705,505
Accounts receivable 7,111,794 6,416,989

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 125,300,327 107,234,471

LIABILITIES
Short term advances (note 5) 42,106,545 16,767,835
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 29,547,805 20,782,297
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (note 6) 4,923,451 5,767,959
Deferred revenue - other 1,336,226 971,545
Employee future benefits liability (note 7) 4,711,154 4,319,842
Long term debt (note 8) 8,584,177 10,261,491
Landfill closure and post-closure liability (note 9) 21,995,200 24,511,900

TOTAL LIABILITIES 113,204,558 83,382,869

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 12,095,769 23,851,602

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (note 10) 236,149,156 199,907,552
Prepaid expenses 393,557 364,906

TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 236,542,713 200,272,458

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 11) 248,638,482 224,124,060

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ $ $
(Unaudited)

REVENUES
Tax levy from lower tiers 63,366,598 63,829,750 60,767,458
User charges 11,961,967 12,465,613 13,189,953
Government of Canada 4,667,144 6,627,503 1,423,018
Province of Ontario 36,741,749 47,162,630 41,432,797
Other municipalities 1,369,500 1,282,681 1,181,208
Provincial Offenses Act - fines (note 12) 1,500,000 1,253,562 921,002
Investment income 1,011,148 2,806,437 1,621,103
Waste Diversion Ontario 1,300,000 1,427,639 1,152,358
Rents 2,592,115 2,593,837 2,591,913
Development charges earned 1,437,690 362,691 326,483
Canada Community-Building Fund earned 4,599,054 4,599,055 2,949,055
Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets - 363,042 (23,824)
Other 286,872 344,370 238,826

TOTAL REVENUES 130,833,837 145,118,810 127,771,350

EXPENSES
General government 5,686,101 5,297,192 7,034,578
Protection services 4,366,629 3,712,642 3,684,060
Transportation services 19,589,773 18,696,335 17,645,316
Environmental services 15,964,985 13,199,120 11,158,975
Health services 20,443,000 19,714,161 17,370,561
Social and family services 36,375,272 42,727,305 35,703,554
Social housing 12,832,052 12,767,136 13,099,065
Economic development, tourism and forest 4,380,265 4,490,497 3,550,133

TOTAL EXPENSES 119,638,077 120,604,388 109,246,242

ANNUAL SURPLUS 11,195,760 24,514,422 18,525,108

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  - beginning of year 224,124,060 205,598,952

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  - end of year 248,638,482 224,124,060

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ $ $
(Unaudited)

ANNUAL SURPLUS 11,195,760 24,514,422 18,525,108

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,400,000 9,252,782 9,067,758
Purchase of tangible capital assets (67,294,362) (46,014,858) (25,333,698)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets - (363,042) 23,824
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 883,514 97,264
Change in prepaid expenses - (28,651) (32,733)

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT) (46,698,602) (11,755,833) 2,347,523

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  - beginning of year 23,851,602 23,851,602 21,504,079

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT)  - end of year (22,847,000) 12,095,769 23,851,602

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
$ $

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annual surplus 24,514,422 18,525,108
Items not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,252,782 9,067,758
Loss/(gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets (363,042) 23,824
Change in employee future benefits liability 391,312 1,861,466
Change in landfill closure and post-closure liability (2,516,700) (4,281,800)

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (694,805) (1,485,991)
Prepaid expenses (28,651) (32,733)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,765,508 3,001,894
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (844,508) 3,594,526
Deferred revenue - other 364,681 (265,876)

Net change in cash from operating activities 38,840,999 30,008,176

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Purchase of tangible capital assets (46,014,858) (25,333,698)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 883,514 97,264

Net change in cash from capital activities (45,131,344) (25,236,434)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments (101,911,830) (32,946,850)
Disposal of investments 83,416,778 19,679,519

Net change in cash from investing activities (18,495,052) (13,267,331)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debt principal repayments (1,677,314) (1,636,549)
Short term advances 25,338,710 11,836,859

Net change in cash from financing activities 23,661,396 10,200,310

NET CHANGE IN CASH (1,124,001) 1,704,721

CASH  - beginning of year 5,111,977 3,407,256

CASH  - end of year 3,987,976 5,111,977

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The County of Northumberland is an upper tier municipality in the Province of Ontario, Canada.  It
conducts its operations guided by the provisions of provincial statutes such as the Municipal Act,
Municipal Affairs Act and related legislation.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards in
the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada Public Sector Accounting (PSA) Handbook.
Significant aspects of the accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Reporting Entity

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
and accumulated surplus of the reporting entity.

The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations, committees and local boards accountable
for the administration of their financial affairs and resources to the County and which are
owned and controlled by the County. These consolidated financial statements include:

• Northumberland County Housing Corporation

All interfund assets and liabilities and revenues and expenses are eliminated.

(b) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. Initial costs for
tangible capital assets that were acquired or developed prior to 2009 were obtained using
historical cost information or using current fair market values discounted by a relevant inflation
factor to the point of acquisition. The cost, less residual value, if any, of tangible capital assets
is amortized on a straight-line basis, over the expected useful life of the asset, as follows:

Land improvements 10 years
Buildings 50 years
Roads and bridges 20 to 75 years
Equipment and computers 5 to 20 years
Vehicles 5 to 10 years

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of
receipt and are also recorded as revenue.

Tangible capital assets categorized as assets under construction are not amortized until they
are put into service.

(c) Non-financial Assets

Tangible capital and other non-financial assets are accounted for as assets by the County
because they can be used to provide services in future periods.  These assets do not normally
provide resources to discharge the liabilities of the County unless they are sold.

(d) Reserves

Certain amounts, as approved by Council, are set aside in reserves for future operating and
capital purposes.  Transfers to and/or from reserves are an adjustment to the respective fund
when approved.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

(e) Recognition of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  The accrual basis of
accounting recognizes revenues in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that
give rise to the revenue; expenses are recognized in the period the goods or services are
acquired and a legal liability is incurred or transfers are due.

Taxation

The County establishes the tax rates annually based on the amount required to be raised.
These tax rates are used to levy amounts to the lower tier municipalities are based on
their annual assessment. Adjustments to the lower tier levy amounts for additions to and
reductions in assessment are reported in the consolidated financial statements when
amounts can be reasonably determined.

Government funding and other grants

Government funding and other grants are recognized in the financial statements as
revenues in the period in which events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the
transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates
of the amounts can be made.

Other revenue

Fines levied under the Provincial Offenses Act 1997 are recognized when the funds are
received. (see note 12).

User charges and rents are recognized as revenue in the year the goods and services are
provided, with the exception of permits that are recognized when the permits are issued.

Investment income is recorded when earned.

Canada Community-Building Fund and development charges are recognized in the period
in which the related expenditures are recorded.

(f) Use of Estimates

Certain items recognized in the consolidated financial statements are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The recognized amounts of such items are based on the County's best information
and judgment. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the
effect on the consolidated financial statements or changes in such estimates in future periods
could be significant. The County's significant estimates include:

• The amounts recorded for landfill closure and post-closure care depend on estimates
of usage, remaining life and capacity.  The provision for future closure and post-closure
costs also depends on estimates of such costs;

• The amounts recorded for amortization of tangible capital assets are based on
estimates of useful life and residual values;

• The values of employee future benefits depend on certain actuarial and economic
assumptions; and

• The amount recorded as allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is based on
management's estimate of future payments on receivable account balances.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

(g) Trust Funds

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the County are not included in these
consolidated financial statements but are reported on separately on the Trust Funds Statement
of Continuity and Statement of Financial Position.

(h) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents grants, user charges and fees which have been collected but for
which the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as
revenues in the fiscal year the services are performed.

2. TRUST FUNDS

Trust funds administered by the County amounting to $145,881 (2021 - $147,234) have not been
included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position nor have their operations been
included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.  As such balances
are held in trust by the County for the benefit of others, they are not presented as part of the
County's financial position or operations.

3. INVESTMENTS

Investments are recorded at cost and are comprised of the following:

2022 2021
$ $

Eastern Ontario Wardens' Caucus Inc. - 167,217
BNS investment high interest savings account 17,692,480 11,808,612
BNS notice plan investment account 22,996,901 46,268,554
ONE investment high interest savings account 6,961 6,818
Renaissance high interest savings account and investment cash

account 458,273 350,348
Corporate bonds bearing interest, rates between 1.67% and 4.86%,

maturing between April 4, 2023 and January 28, 2033 73,045,942 37,103,956

114,200,557 95,705,505

4. CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

The County has a revolving credit facility agreement with its main financial institution.  The amount
available at any time is limited to $10,000,000 via an operating loan.  Any balance borrowed will
accrue interest at the bank’s prime lending rate less 1.0% per annum.  Council authorized the
temporary borrowing limit by by-law 2022-02. At December 31, 2022 there was no balance
outstanding (2021 - $Nil).
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

5. SHORT TERM ADVANCES

During 2020, the County signed a financing agreement with Ontario Infrastructure and Lands
Corporation (OILC) to provide advances for the construction of the new Golden Plough Lodge. Total
available OILC financing is $96,770,321. The advances will be moved to long term debt when
construction is complete. Advances received to December 31, 2022 totaled $42,106,545 (2021 -
$16,767,835).

6. DEFERRED REVENUE - OBLIGATORY RESERVE FUNDS

A requirement of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada Public Sector Accounting
Handbook, is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue.  This requirement is in
place as legislation and external agreements restrict how these funds may be used and under
certain circumstances these funds may possibly be refunded.  The balances in the obligatory
reserve funds of the County are summarized below:

2022 2021
$ $

Canada Community-Building Fund 2,688,205 4,519,273
Development charges 2,235,246 1,248,686

4,923,451 5,767,959

The continuity of deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds is as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

Balance - beginning of year 5,767,959 2,173,433

Add amounts received:
Canada Community-Building Fund 2,699,055 5,293,733
Development charges 1,344,775 1,554,533
Interest 73,408 21,798

4,117,238 6,870,064

Less transfer to operations:
Canada Community-Building Fund earned 4,599,055 2,949,055
Development charges earned 362,691 326,483

4,961,746 3,275,538

Balance - end of year 4,923,451 5,767,959
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY

The liability is comprised of the following amounts:

2022 2021
$ $

WSIB 3,185,458 2,835,603
Health benefits 1,525,696 1,484,239

4,711,154 4,319,842

Under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB), the County is self-insured (Schedule II)
and remits payments to the WSIB as required to fund disability payments. The liability recorded of
$3,185,458 (2021 - $2,835,603) has been determined by an actuarial review completed as of
December 31, 2020. This liability is fully funded by a reserve set aside for this purpose and reported
as part of the employee health, safety and related costs reserve as reported in the Accumulated
Surplus note.

The actuarial report for the WSIB liability was based on the following assumptions:
Interest discount rate 2.75%
WSIB administration and physician fees 27% of benefit costs
Expected level of increase in claims 0.07%
Expected average remaining service life 10 years

The continuity of the WSIB liability is as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

Accrued benefit obligation at January 1 3,781,115 3,503,147
Unamortized actuarial losses (945,512) (1,044,771)

Liability at January 1 2,835,603 2,458,376
Current year benefit cost 583,389 567,229
Interest 106,240 98,800
Amortization of actuarial loss/(gain) 79,323 99,259
Less: benefit payments (419,097) (388,061)

Liability at December 31 3,185,458 2,835,603
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY, continued

The liability for extended health care and sick leave benefits has been determined by an actuarial
review completed as of December 31, 2020.

The actuarial report for the health benefits liability was based on the following assumptions:
Discount rate 3.25%
Inflation rate 1.75%
Future salary escalation 2.75%
Future dental escalation 3.75%
Future health cost escalation 5.75% reducing to 3.75% in 2027

The continuity of the health benefits is as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

Accrued benefit obligation at January 1 1,484,239 1,450,788

Liability at January 1 1,484,239 1,450,788
Current year benefit cost 95,346 90,535
Interest 48,129 46,932
Less: benefit payments (102,018) (104,016)

Liability at December 31 1,525,696 1,484,239
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

8. LONG TERM DEBT

(a) The balance of long term debt reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is
made up of the following:

2022 2021
$ $

Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation due December 3,
2023, repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $70,528,
and bears interest at 3.07% per annum. 137,873 271,609

Ontario Strategic Infrastructure Financing Authority due March 15,
2028, repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $89,862
and bears interest at 4.92% per annum. 856,890 989,540

Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation due September 1, 2022,
repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $266,865 and
bears interest of 2.27% per annum. - 524,778

Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation due September 4, 2035,
repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $90,923 and
bears interest at 4.51% per annum. 1,774,036 1,872,529

Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation due September 1, 2027,
repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $68,560 and
bears interest of 2.78% per annum. 635,979 752,976

Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation due September 16,
2029, repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $81,259
and bears interest at 2.19% per annum. 1,049,405 1,186,681

Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation due September 16,
2029, repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $228,226
and bears interest at 2.19% per annum. 2,947,400 3,332,960

Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation due December 1,
2030, repayable in blended semi-annual instalments of $84,821
and bears interest at 1.48% per annum. 1,182,594 1,330,418

8,584,177 10,261,491

(b) The long term debt in (a) issued in the name of the County have been approved by by-law. The
annual principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are within the annual
debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing.

(c) Interest paid during the year on long term debt amounted to $282,098 (2021 - $325,051).
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

8. LONG TERM DEBT, continued

(d) The long term debt reported in (a) of this note is repayable as follows:

Principal Interest Total
$ $ $

2023 1,182,560 240,935 1,423,495
2024 1,071,453 208,841 1,280,294
2025 1,099,131 178,932 1,278,063
2026 1,127,759 148,117 1,275,876
2027 1,157,371 116,317 1,273,688

5,638,274 893,142 6,531,416
2028 to 2032 2,440,959 251,043 2,692,002
2033 and subsequent years 504,944 40,593 545,537

8,584,177 1,184,778 9,768,955

9. LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY

The estimated liability for landfill closure and post-closure costs for the County’s one operational 
site and the eight closed sites that the County has obtained from the lower tier municipalities by way 
of a settlement process (see Note 17) is $21,995,200 (2021 -  $24,511,900). The closure costs 
include final cover, vegetation and additional monitoring wells. Post-closure costs include 
monitoring, maintenance of control systems and consulting fees for 25 years after the site is closed. 
The landfill closure and post-closure liability will be funded from taxation. As at December 31, 2022, 
the County had a reserve of $2,350,000 (2021 - $2,350,000) designated for settling this liability.

The reported liability is based upon estimates and assumptions with respect to events extending 
over the remaining life of the landfill. The total discounted future cash flows for closure and post-
closure cost is estimated at $25,213,900 as at December 31, 2022 (2021 -  $28,551,932) using a 
discount factor of 4.38% and an inflation rate of 3.0%.

The remaining capacity of the one operational landfill site is estimated at 309,985 m3  (2021 -
341,844 m3) which is  24.6% (2021 -  27.1%) of the site’s total capacity. The County estimates the 
site will continue to operate until 2031.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

10. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

The net book value of the County's tangible capital assets are:

2022 2021
$ $

General
Land 13,838,886 14,295,087
Land improvements 3,792,017 3,945,203
Buildings 19,814,545 21,334,961
Equipment and computers 13,926,390 14,727,934
Vehicles 5,855,701 5,674,531

Infrastructure
Roads and bridges 110,561,338 108,969,185

167,788,877 168,946,901

Assets under construction 68,360,279 30,960,651

236,149,156 199,907,552

For additional information, see the Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets.

During the year there were no write-downs of assets (2021 - $Nil) and interest capitalized of
$604,649 (2021 - $Nil).

Tangible capital assets allocated by segment are as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

General government 17,631,985 17,471,322
Protection services 85,674 93,418
Transportation services 120,441,883 116,060,660
Environmental services 30,938,757 31,768,428
Health services 3,084,708 2,236,964
Social and family services 52,050,665 23,876,895
Social housing 9,648,009 6,117,823
Economic development, tourism and forest 2,267,475 2,282,042

236,149,156 199,907,552
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

11. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

(a) Accumulated surplus consists of the following:

2022 2021
$ $

Surplus/(Deficit)
Unfunded landfill closure and post-closure liability (21,995,200) (24,511,900)
Unfunded employee future benefits liability (4,711,154) (4,319,842)
Unfunded operating costs (65,136) (68,461)

(26,771,490) (28,900,203)

Invested In Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets - net book value 236,149,156 199,907,552
Long term debt (8,584,177) (10,261,491)
Unfunded capital - GPL rebuild (b) (46,226,184) (18,666,345)
Unfunded capital - Ambulance (37,734) (76,914)
Unfunded capital - Archives (b) (1,114,558) (557,842)
Unfunded capital - Northumberland County Housing Corporation - (476,463)

180,186,503 169,868,497

Surplus 153,415,013 140,968,294

Reserves
Corporate services 30,794,608 25,540,499
Transportation services 18,675,783 14,896,343
Waste services 5,116,799 4,980,002
Social services 1,223,169 1,245,169
Social housing 13,996,086 13,214,520
Golden Plough Lodge 9,604,982 8,225,735
Ambulance services 1,528,131 1,409,187
Technological development 1,207,154 1,032,453
Emergency planning 374,518 369,518
Employee health, safety and related costs 7,064,910 6,694,378
Facilities 2,360,702 2,310,702
Economic development, tourism and forest 257,952 459,620
Plumbing and septic inspections 411,074 239,626
Landfill closure 2,350,000 2,350,000
Land use planning 257,601 188,014

Total Reserves 95,223,469 83,155,766

248,638,482 224,124,060

(b) Unfunded capital for the Golden Plough Lodge (GPL) rebuild and Archives will be funded with
long term debt when the project is complete.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

12. PROVINCIAL OFFENCES OFFICES

As a result of the provincial-municipal restructuring under Bill 108, streamlining of administration of
Provincial Offences Act (“POA”) 1997, the County has assumed responsibility and administration of
the POA office and courts.

Revenues from the POA office consists of fines levied under Part I and III (including delay
penalties) for POA charges filed at 860 William Street in Cobourg.  Offenders may pay their fines at
any court office in Ontario, at which time, their receipt is recorded in the Integrated Courts
Operations Network system (“ICON”) operated by the Province of Ontario.  The County of
Northumberland recognizes fine revenue when the receipt of funds is recorded by ICON and
matched to the offence notice, regardless of the location where payment is made.

Revenues and expenses related to these operations have been reported as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

Gross revenues 1,253,562 921,002
Provincial Safe Restart funding - 611,272
Operating costs and allocated charges (1,229,652) (1,077,291)

Net County revenue used to reduce tax levy 23,910 454,983

13. EXPENSES BY OBJECT

The expenses for the year reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated
Surplus by object are as follows:

Budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ $ $
(Unaudited)

Salaries and benefits 49,861,746 48,902,214 47,158,386
Interest charges 319,452 282,098 325,051
Materials 17,193,794 20,976,078 17,001,197
Contracted services 19,904,415 16,086,683 13,873,915
Rents and financial 572,732 304,398 246,186
External transfers 22,385,938 24,800,135 21,573,749
Amortization 9,400,000 9,252,782 9,067,758

119,638,077 120,604,388 109,246,242
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

14. BUDGET FIGURES

The budget, approved by the County, for 2022 is reflected on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Accumulated Surplus and the Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial
Assets/(Net Debt).  The budget established for capital investment in tangible capital assets are on a
project-oriented basis, the costs of which may be carried out over one or more years and, therefore,
may not be comparable with current year’s actual amounts. Budget figures have been reclassified
for the purposes of these financial statements to comply with PSA reporting requirements. Budget
figures are not subject to audit.

15. PENSION AGREEMENTS

Certain employees of the County are eligible members of the Ontario Municipal Employees
Retirement System (OMERS), a multi-employer pension plan.

The Actuarial Opinion contained in the 2022 Annual Report disclosed total actuarial liabilities of
$130,306 million in respect of benefits accrued for service with actuarial assets of $123,628 million
indicating an actuarial deficit of $6,678 million. Because OMERS is a multi-employer plan, any
pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint responsibility of Ontario municipal organizations and
their employees. As a result, the County does not recognize any share of the OMERS pension
surplus or deficit.

The County's required contributions to OMERS in 2022 were $2,918,743 (2021 - $2,750,029).

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The County, in the course of its operations, is often named in lawsuits the outcomes of which are
indeterminable at this time.  No amounts in connection with these items have been reflected in
these financial statements.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

17. COMMITMENTS

The County assumed the assets and liabilities of the waste management systems of the lower tier
municipalities on January 1, 1991 according to by-law 24-90.  This by-law was passed pursuant to
subsection 209(a) of the Municipal Act of the Province of Ontario which required the County to pay
or to receive from the lower tier municipalities’ compensation based upon the discounted future
cash flows of the landfill site.  The County is involved with ongoing negotiations with respect to the
settlements for further sites.

The County has entered into several contracts related to the Golden Plough Lodge rebuild. The total
of the contract commitments is $92,853,752 plus HST. $44,848,059 plus HST has been incurred
related to these contracts to December 31, 2022.

During 2021, the Northumberland County Housing Corporation, entered into an agreement in the
amount of $13,668,623 plus HST, for the redevelopment of Elgin Park. $3,784,361 plus HST has
been incurred to December 31, 2022.

18. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The County of Northumberland is a municipal government organization that provides a range of
services to its residents. County services are reported by function and their activities are separately
disclosed in the segmented information.

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated to the segment.  Certain allocation
methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial information.  Taxation levied
to lower tiers is allocated based on each segment's net requirements. Internal transfers include the
following: 1) Actual wages and benefits expenses for governance, corporate management and
information technologies that are allocated based on the segment's proportionate share as
determined by head count, revenue and number of computers; and 2) Actual occupancy costs that
are allocated based on the segment's proportionate share of the square footage of the County
buildings.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 1.  For additional
information see the Consolidated Schedule of Segment Disclosure.

General Government

General government consists of the activities of Council and general financial and administrative
management of the County and its programs and services including contributions to the Municipal
Property Assessment Corporation.

Protection Services

Protection services includes emergency measures, plumbing and septic inspections and Provincial
Offences Act charges.

Transportation Services

The activities of the transportation function includes maintenance and winter control of the County's
roads and bridges.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

18. SEGMENTED INFORMATION, continued

Environmental Services

The environmental function is responsible for providing waste collection, waste disposal and
recycling services to ratepayers.

Health Services

The health services function consists of land ambulance services and contributions to the local
health unit.

Social and Family Services

The social and family services consist of general assistance to inhabitants, home for the aged and
child care services for the County.

Social Housing

The social housing services provides affordable housing to qualified inhabitants of the County and
includes the operations of the Northumberland County Housing Corporation.

Economic Development, Tourism and Forest

The function includes economic development and tourism operations and maintenance of the
County forests.

19. SOCIAL HOUSING

The Northumberland County Housing Corporation was incorporated under Part III of The Ontario
Business Corporations Act in response to the Province’s overall initiative to devolve Social Housing
to local municipalities.  The Corporation currently provides subsidized housing to its tenants and
their families.

As the Service Manager, the County is now the sole shareholder of the Corporation.

On January 1, 2001 the Ontario Housing Corporation transferred 14 properties and certain head
office assets to the Corporation.  The properties transferred carried the following restriction:

“The properties cannot be transferred or mortgaged or otherwise encumbered, developed
or redeveloped …. or disposed of by any person without prior consent of the Minister of
Municipal Affairs and Housing.”

20. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures were restated, where required, to conform with the current year
presentation.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

General Infrastructure

Land
Land

Improvements Buildings

Equipment
and

Computers Vehicles
Roads and

Bridges
Assets Under
Construction Totals

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

COST

Balance, beginning of year 14,295,087 4,958,816 61,304,863 27,873,224 16,078,272 196,221,339 30,960,651 351,692,252

Add:  additions during the year - - - 585,913 1,486,112 6,445,815 37,497,018 46,014,858

Less:  disposals during the year 456,201 - - 129,127 609,302 2,284,840 - 3,479,470

Internal transfers - - - 26,274 - 71,116 (97,390) -

Balance, end of year 13,838,886 4,958,816 61,304,863 28,356,284 16,955,082 200,453,430 68,360,279 394,227,640

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Balance, beginning of year - 1,013,613 39,969,902 13,145,290 10,403,741 87,252,154 - 151,784,700

Add:  additions during the year - 153,186 1,520,416 1,413,731 1,296,432 4,869,017 - 9,252,782

Less:  disposals during the year - - - 129,127 600,792 2,229,079 - 2,958,998

Balance, end of year - 1,166,799 41,490,318 14,429,894 11,099,381 89,892,092 - 158,078,484

NET BOOK VALUE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL
ASSETS 13,838,886 3,792,017 19,814,545 13,926,390 5,855,701 110,561,338 68,360,279 236,149,156
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

General
Government

Protection
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
Services

Health
Services

Social and
Family

Services
Social

Housing

Economic
Development,
Tourism and

Forest Consolidated
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenues
Tax levy from lower tiers 3,586,939 1,388,780 19,228,380 7,810,884 12,480,626 9,701,209 6,486,432 3,146,500 63,829,750
User charges 845,520 595,302 423,335 6,943,158 129,820 3,232,993 121,250 174,235 12,465,613
Government transfers - operating 310,192 454,328 50,000 154,294 10,016,015 30,585,268 4,482,682 708,351 46,761,130
Government transfers - capital
Other municipalities

-
-

-
-

2,017,688
1,220,146

25,793
62,535

-
-

-
-

4,843,456
-

142,066
-

7,029,003
1,282,681

Provincial Offenses Act - fines - 1,253,562 - - - - - - 1,253,562
Investment income 2,801,816 - - - - - 4,621 - 2,806,437
Waste Diversion Ontario - - - 1,427,639 - - - - 1,427,639
Rents 752,502 - - 6,191 - - 1,677,902 157,242 2,593,837
Development charges earned 3,325 - 109,317 33,600 39,180 127,296 35,206 14,767 362,691
Canada Community-Building Fund

earned - - 4,599,055 - - - - - 4,599,055
Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible

capital assets - - (51,154) 348,799 65,397 - - - 363,042
Other 110 - 5,475 2,241 250 92,004 - 244,290 344,370

Total revenues 8,300,404 3,691,972 27,602,242 16,815,134 22,731,288 43,738,770 17,651,549 4,587,451 145,118,810

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 7,349,295 1,489,228 3,998,258 3,667,548 12,633,118 17,222,670 751,820 1,790,277 48,902,214
Interest charges 147,861 - - 108,850 7,320 18,067 - - 282,098

   Materials 3,092,590 275,414 4,979,030 1,729,058 1,740,229 5,379,075 2,807,733 972,949 20,976,078
Contracted services 2,528,957 1,557,141 3,646,345 5,293,623 116,557 1,204,990 727,957 1,011,113 16,086,683
Rents and financial 205,155 17,634 - 2,125 22,324 40,340 16,820 - 304,398
External transfers - - - - 2,911,433 15,835,889 5,930,898 121,915 24,800,135

   Amortization 835,434 7,744 5,589,751 1,025,480 788,436 124,665 801,084 80,188 9,252,782
Internal transfers (8,862,100) 365,481 482,951 1,372,436 1,494,744 2,901,609 1,730,824 514,055 -

Total expenses 5,297,192 3,712,642 18,696,335 13,199,120 19,714,161 42,727,305 12,767,136 4,490,497 120,604,388

Net surplus/(deficit) 3,003,212 (20,670) 8,905,907 3,616,014 3,017,127 1,011,465 4,884,413 96,954 24,514,422
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

General
Government

Protection
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
Services

Health
Services

Social and
Family

Services
Social

Housing

Economic
Development,
Tourism and

Forest Consolidated
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenues
Tax levy from lower tiers 3,603,731 1,225,058 18,802,098 7,882,832 11,331,990 9,240,059 5,753,193 2,928,497 60,767,458
User charges 881,759 682,213 374,850 7,299,764 384,479 3,227,856 102,161 236,871 13,189,953
Government transfers - operating 959,708 1,192,584 898 10,353 7,877,367 25,806,522 5,815,601 502,175 42,165,208
Government transfers - capital
Other municipalities

91,045
-

-
-

177,385
1,112,307

-
68,901

-
-

-
-

422,177
-

-
-

690,607
1,181,208

Provincial Offenses Act - fines - 921,002 - - - - - - 921,002
Investment income 1,620,766 - - - - - 337 - 1,621,103
Waste Diversion Ontario - - - 1,152,358 - - - - 1,152,358
Rents 760,781 - - 5,894 - - 1,684,307 140,931 2,591,913
Development charges earned 71,948 - 56,625 35,764 - 143,744 18,402 - 326,483
Canada Community-Building Fund

earned - - 2,949,055 - - - - - 2,949,055
Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible

capital assets - - (31,005) - 7,181 - - - (23,824)
Other 243 - - 4,211 500 52,244 - 181,628 238,826

Total revenues 7,989,981 4,020,857 23,442,213 16,460,077 19,601,517 38,470,425 13,796,178 3,990,102 127,771,350

Expenses
   Salaries and benefits 7,922,175 1,271,549 3,903,151 3,797,760 11,591,496 16,359,379 696,411 1,616,465 47,158,386

Interest charges 160,488 - - 132,748 11,333 20,482 - - 325,051
   Materials 2,950,524 275,322 3,609,750 2,275,988 1,342,966 3,614,667 2,379,612 552,368 17,001,197

Contracted services 2,686,097 1,356,433 4,240,080 2,918,777 82,119 1,057,606 827,946 704,857 13,873,915
Rents and financial 139,951 15,363 - - 18,440 64,480 7,952 - 246,186
External transfers - - - - 2,534,698 11,922,802 6,968,829 147,420 21,573,749

   Amortization 835,701 7,744 5,414,598 1,046,161 652,616 130,147 903,747 77,044 9,067,758
Internal transfers (7,660,358) 757,649 477,737 987,541 1,136,893 2,533,991 1,314,568 451,979 -

Total expenses 7,034,578 3,684,060 17,645,316 11,158,975 17,370,561 35,703,554 13,099,065 3,550,133 109,246,242

Net surplus 955,403 336,797 5,796,897 5,301,102 2,230,956 2,766,871 697,113 439,969 18,525,108
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers
of the Corporation of the County of Northumberland

Baker Tilly KDN LLP
272 Charlotte St.
Peterborough, ON
Canada K9J 2V4

T: (705) 742-3418
F: (705) 742-9775

www.bakertilly.ca

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Trust Funds of the Corporation of the County of
Northumberland (the Trust Funds), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2022, the  statement of continuity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Trust Funds as at December 31, 2022, and the continuity of the Trust Funds for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Basis for Qualified Opinion
In common with many municipal trust funds, the completeness of the revenue derived from residents is
not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly, our verification of these revenues was
limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the Trust Funds and we were not able to determine
whether any adjustments might be necessary to resident receipts, assets and fund balances at the end of
the year.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust Funds in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Trust Funds' ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Trust Funds or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trust Funds' financial reporting
process.

ASSURANCE . TAX . ADVISORY
Baker Tilly KON LLP is a member of Baker Tilly Canada Cooperative, which is a member of the global network of Baker Till Intemational Limited. All members of Baker 
Tilly Canada Cooperative and Baker Tilly Internalional Limited are separate and independent legal entities.

Peterborough Courtice Lindsay Cobourg



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Trust Funds' internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust Funds' ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust Funds to
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Peterborough, Ontario
June 28, 2023



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
TRUST FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At December 31, 2022

Blacklock
Bequest

Safekeeping
Pensioners

2022
Total

2021
Total

$ $ $ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash 689 24,873 25,562 28,707
Investment (note 3) 120,319 - 120,319 118,527

121,008 24,873 145,881 147,234

FUND BALANCES
Due to Residents - 24,873 24,873 28,033
Bequests 121,008 - 121,008 119,201

121,008 24,873 145,881 147,234

TRUST FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CONTINUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Blacklock
Bequest

Safekeeping
Pensioners

2022
Total

2021
Total

$ $ $ $

BALANCES  - beginning of year 119,201 28,033 147,234 155,187

RECEIPTS
Residents' contributions - 20,263 20,263 18,499
Interest earned 1,807 - 1,807 483

1,807 20,263 22,070 18,982

EXPENSES
Residents' personal costs - 23,423 23,423 26,935

BALANCES - end of year 121,008 24,873 145,881 147,234

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
TRUST FUNDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

1. PURPOSE OF TRUST FUNDS

The County is required, under Section 241 of Ontario Regulation 79/10 as prescribed by the Long-
Term Care Homes Act, 2007, to maintain a trust fund to manage the funds of the residents of the
County's home for the aged.

The Blacklock bequest was created by a donation and is for the use of the County's Long Term
Care Home called the Golden Plough Lodge.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards in the Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada Public Sector Accounting (PSA) Handbook.

(a) Basis of Accounting

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting which recognizes
revenues as they become available and measurable; expenses are recognized as they are
incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal
obligation to pay.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions.  These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the period and are based on the County's best
information and judgment.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. INVESTMENT

The investment is recorded at cost plus accrued interest and has been invested in a Renaissance
high interest savings account SR F (5001) with CIBC Wood Gundy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of the Northumberland County Housing
Corporation, the Members of Council, Inhabitants and
Ratepayers of the Corporation of the County of
Northumberland

Baker Tilly KDN LLP
272 Charlotte St.
Peterborough, ON
Canada K9J 2V4

T: (705) 742-3418
F: (705) 742-9775

www.bakertilly.ca

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Northumberland County Housing Corporation of the
Corporation of the County of Northumberland (the Corporation), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2022, the  statements of operations and accumulated surplus,
change in net financial assets/(net debt) and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Corporation in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Corporation or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation's financial reporting
process.

ASSURANCE - TAX . ADVISORY

Baker Tilly KON LLP is a member of Baker Tilly Canada Cooperative, which is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited. All members of Baker 
Tilly Canada Cooperative and Baker Tilly International Limited are separale and independent legal entities.

Peterborough Courtice Lindsay Cobourg



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Corporation to
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Peterborough, Ontario
June 28, 2023



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At December 31, 2022

2022 2021
$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable 137,196 108,794
Due from County (note 4) 2,722,324 2,063,976

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 2,859,520 2,172,770

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 42,364 219,321
Deferred revenue 481,333 21,542

TOTAL LIABILITIES 523,697 240,863

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 2,335,823 1,931,907

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (note 2) 8,223,299 4,978,600

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 3) 10,559,122 6,910,507

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ $ $
(Unaudited)

REVENUES
County contributions (note 4) 2,985,378 2,883,544 2,337,922
Government of Canada 3,269,667 4,483,252 58,927
Province of Ontario 200,000 222,031 367,074
Rent 1,567,000 1,677,902 1,684,307
Recovery of expenses 10,000 77,170 67,068
Other 495,512 73,305 48,658

TOTAL REVENUES 8,527,557 9,417,204 4,563,956

EXPENSES
Materials and supplies - 173 -
Insurance 79,718 78,638 72,168
Professional fees 71,500 31,669 34,377
Utilities 765,164 694,410 604,846
Property tax 527,672 529,276 513,951
Repairs and maintenance 772,180 1,045,747 1,177,393
Major repairs 739,375 727,539 468,446
Financial expenses 60,234 16,716 7,938
Internal chargebacks

Allocated administrative services (note 4) 710,078 712,596 577,307
    Allocated maintenance services (note 4) 1,102,984 1,130,741 853,493
Amortization 850,000 801,084 903,747

TOTAL EXPENSES 5,678,905 5,768,589 5,213,666

ANNUAL SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 2,848,652 3,648,615 (649,710)

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  - beginning of year 6,910,507 7,560,217

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  - end of year 10,559,122 6,910,507

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ $ $
(Unaudited)

ANNUAL SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 2,848,652 3,648,615 (649,710)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 850,000 801,084 903,747
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,251,720) (4,045,783) (579,945)

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT) (5,553,068) 403,916 (325,908)

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  - beginning of year 1,931,907 1,931,907 2,257,815

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/(NET DEBT)  - end of year (3,621,161) 2,335,823 1,931,907

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

31



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
$ $

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annual surplus/(deficit) 3,648,615 (649,710)
Items not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 801,084 903,747
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable (28,402) (39,839)
Due from County (658,348) 237,097
Accounts payable (176,957) 130,378
Deferred revenue 459,791 (1,728)

Net change in cash from operating activities 4,045,783 579,945

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (4,045,783) (579,945)

NET CHANGE IN CASH - -

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards in the Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada Public Sector Accounting (PSA) Handbook.  Significant aspects
of the accounting policies adopted by the Corporation are as follows:

(a) Recognition of Revenue and Expenses

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of
accounting recognizes revenue in the period in which the transactions of events occurred that
give rise to the revenue; expenses are recognized in the period the goods or services are
acquired and a legal liability is incurred or transfers are due.

Government funding is recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period in
which events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any
eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made.

Rents are recognized as revenue in the period earned.

(b) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. Initial costs for
tangible capital assets that were acquired or developed prior to 2009 were obtained using
historical cost information or using current fair market values discounted by a relevant inflation
factor to the point of acquisition. The cost, less residual value, if any, of tangible capital assets
is amortized on a straight-line basis, over the expected useful life of the asset, as follows:

Land improvements 10 years
Buildings 50 years
Equipment 5 to 20 years

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of
receipt and are also recorded as revenue.

Tangible capital assets categorized as assets under construction are not amortized until they
are put into service.

(c) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents grants, user charges and fees which have been collected but for
which the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as
revenues in the fiscal year the services are performed.

(d) Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets and other non-financial assets are accounted for as assets by the
Corporation because they can be used to provide services in future periods.  These assets do
not normally provide resources to discharge the liabilities of the Corporation unless they are
sold.

(e) Reserves

Certain amounts, as approved by the Corporation, are set aside in reserves for future operating
and capital purposes.  Transfers to and/or from reserves are an adjustment to the respective
fund when approved.
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CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF NORTHUMBERLAND
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

(f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions.  These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the period and are based on the Corporation's best
information and judgment.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Certain items recognized in the financial statements are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The recognized amounts of such items are based on the Corporation's best information and
judgment.  By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the
effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future periods could be
significant. The Corporation's significant estimates include:

• The amounts recorded for amortization of tangible capital assets are based on
estimates of useful life and residual values.

• The amount recorded as allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is based on
management's estimate of future payments on receivable account balances.

• Allocation of the County's administrative internal chargebacks.

(g) Inter-Entity Transactions

The Northumberland County Housing Corporation is a subsidiary of the County of
Northumberland and is consolidated with the County's financial statements.

Allocated costs and recovery of costs are measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Unallocated costs are measured at the carrying amount, which is the amount recorded in the
records of the County.
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NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY HOUSING CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

The net book value of the Corporation's tangible capital assets are:

Land and Land
Improvements Buildings Equipment

Assets
Under

Construction
2022

Totals
2021

Totals
$ $ $ $ $ $

COST

Balance, beginning of
year 1,396,939 26,891,436 131,377 757,987 29,177,739 28,597,794

Add:  additions during
the year - - - 4,045,783 4,045,783 579,945

Balance, end of year 1,396,939 26,891,436 131,377 4,803,770 33,223,522 29,177,739

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

Balance, beginning of
year 116,563 24,060,843 21,733 - 24,199,139 23,295,392

Add:  additions during
the year 20,989 769,985 10,110 - 801,084 903,747

Balance, end of year 137,552 24,830,828 31,843 - 25,000,223 24,199,139

NET BOOK VALUE
OF TANGIBLE
CAPITAL ASSETS 1,259,387 2,060,608 99,534 4,803,770 8,223,299 4,978,600

3. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Accumulated surplus consists of the following:

2022 2021
$ $

Invested In Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets - net book value 8,223,299 4,978,600
Unfunded capital - Elgin Park - (476,463)

Surplus 8,223,299 4,502,137

Reserve
Operations 2,335,823 2,408,370

10,559,122 6,910,507
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4. INTER-ENTITY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Corporation entered into transactions with the County of Northumberland.

As part of the budgeting process, the County approves a contribution to the Corporation which is
identified on the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.

Details of the inter-entity expense transactions are as follows:

2022 2021
$ $

Allocated costs:
Internal chargebacks - allocated administrative service 712,596 577,307
Internal chargebacks - allocated maintenance services 1,130,741 853,493

1,843,337 1,430,800

All balances with the County of Northumberland have been identified on the Statement of Financial
Position. Due from (to) balances are unsecured, without interest and have no terms of repayment.

5. BUDGET FIGURES

The operating budget, approved by the Corporation, for 2022 is reflected on the Statement of
Operations and Accumulated Surplus and the Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets/(Net
Debt).  The budgets established for capital investment in tangible capital assets are on a project-
oriented basis, the costs of which may be carried out over one or more years and, therefore, may
not be comparable with current year’s actual expenditure amounts.  Budget figures have been
reclassified for the purposes of these financial statements to comply with PSA reporting
requirements.  Budget figures are not subject to audit.

6. COMMITMENT

During 2021, the Corporation, entered into an agreement in the amount of $13,668,623 plus HST,
for the redevelopment of Elgin Park. $3,784,361 plus HST has been incurred to December 31,
2022.
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